THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

The Honorable Melody L. James, The Honorable Aisha Taylor,
and The Honorable Cynthia C. Dooley
Commissioners for the Appellate Panel

Appellate Case No. 2024-001822
S.C. W.C.C. File No.: 1925084

Christina Bradshaw (née Walthour), Claimant.....Respondent,

v.

Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., Employer, and
XL Insurance America, Inc., Carrier.....Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

s/Michael E. Patterson, Jr.
S.C. Bar No.: 78437
Patterson Law Group, LLC
15 State Street
Charleston, SC 29401
Telephone: (843) 202-0901
Email: michael@pattersonlawsc.com
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. THE COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY COLLAPSING TWO DISTINCT INJURY EVENTS INTO A SINGLE COMPENSABLE INJURY DESPITE THE OBJECTIVE FACTUAL EVIDENCE, ABSENCE OF NOTICE, AND CONTRADICTORY CONTEMPORANEOUS MEDICAL RECORDS.
2. THE COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY RELYING ON MEDICAL CAUSATION OPINIONS THAT LACKED A RELIABLE FACTUAL BASIS AND WERE FORMED ONLY AFTER RESPONDENT'S UNREPORTED AND UNAUTHORIZED MEDICAL TREATMENT.
3. THE COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY EXCUSING RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO PROVIDE NOTICE OF A CERVICAL INJURY AND BY IMPOSING LIABILITY FOR UNAUTHORIZED MEDICAL TREATMENT OBTAINED OUTSIDE OF APPELLANTS' CONTROL.
4. THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER'S DENIAL OF APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE COMPOUNDED RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO NOTIFY THE EMPLOYER OF A NEW CERVICAL SPINE INJURY, RESPONDENT'S TREATMENT OUTSIDE OF APPELLANTS' KNOWLEDGE OR CONTROL, RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO PARTICIPATE IN DISCOVERY, AND RESPONDENT'S 19-MONTH DELAY, RESULTING IN DEMONSTRABLE PREJUDICE TO APPELLANTS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 11, 2019, Respondent suffered an injury to her lower back and left shoulder while lifting a pallet at work. (R. pp. 759-761). On August 18, 2020, Respondent filed her first Form 50 Notice of Claim. (R. pp. 38-39). Respondent then did not do anything to prosecute her claim, and the claim was closed on May 14, 2021, but on June 4, 2021, Respondent filed a Form 50 hearing request to reopen the claim. (R. pp. 41-44). The hearing was set for October 20, 2021. (R. p. 1238). The parties reached a consent order to conduct additional discovery, which was executed by Commissioner Campbell on October 13, 2021. (R. pp. 5-6). That same day, Respondent filed a new Form 50 hearing request, and the hearing was set for February 1, 2022. (R. pp. 50-52, 1239). However, the day prior to the hearing, January 31, 2022, Respondent withdrew her hearing request. (R. p. 1265).

Following this withdrawal, Respondent did not take any further actions to prosecute her claim, and on September 16, 2022, the claim was closed by the Commission. Following closure of the Commission's file, Respondent did not take any additional actions to prosecute her claim until she filed a new Form 50 hearing request on September 1, 2023. (R. pp. 58-61). In total, from the date (January 31, 2022) Respondent withdrew her Form 50 until September 1, 2023, when Respondent filed a new Form 50 hearing request, Respondent went 19 months (which is the equivalent of 579 days or 1 year and 7 months) without taking any action to prosecute her claim.

On November 29, 2023, a hearing was conducted by Commissioner Avery B. Wilkerson.¹ (R. pp. 1240, 203-371). Prior to the hearing, on November 28, 2023, Appellants filed a motion for continuance, which was heard by the single commissioner at the hearing and was denied in part and granted in part. (R. pp. 459-464). The single commissioner determined that the claim was

¹ Commissioner Wilkerson is no longer a Commissioner with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

compensable, and Appellants filed a notice of appeal to the Appellate Panel. (R. pp. 8-21, 66-69). Oral arguments were heard by the Appellate Panel on July 15, 2024. (R. pp. 440-458). The Appellate Panel issued its decision and order on October 3, 2024 (hereinafter the “Appellate Panel Order”). (R. pp. 22-36). The Appellate Panel upheld the single commissioner’s decision and found that Respondent’s claim was compensable. (Id.).

Subsequently, on October 25, 2024, Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals for review of the Appellate Panel’s decision and order.

However, on October 30, 2024, Justice Hewitt dismissed Appellants’ Appeal as not being a final judgment under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380. *See* Walthour v Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., SC Ct. App. Order dated October 30, 2024. On November 14, 2024, Appellants filed a Petition for Rehearing and Reinstatement. *See* Walthour v Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., Appellants’ Petition for Rehearing and Reinstatement, dated November 14, 2024. On March 7, 2025, a three Justice panel for the Court of Appeals affirmed the Order issued by Justice Hewitt. *See* Walthour v Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., SC Ct. App. Order dated March 7, 2025. The Order from the Court of Appeals dismissed Appellants’ appeal, and ordered remittitur under Rule 221(b), SCACR. Id.

On April 7, 2025, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-390, Rule 242, SCACR, Rule 221, SCACR, and Rule 260 SCACR, Appellants filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the Supreme Court seeking reinstatement of Appellants’ appeal. *See* Walthour v Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., Appellants’ Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, dated April 7, 2025. Respondent filed her Return on May 23, 2025. *See* Walthour v Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., Respondent’s Return to Appellants’ Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, dated May 23, 2025. On June 2, 2025, Appellants filed a Reply to Respondent’s Return. *See* Walthour v Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., Appellants’ Reply to Respondent’s Return, dated June 2, 2025. On August 14, 2025, the

Supreme Court granted Appellants' Writ of Certiorari. *See* Walthour v Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., S.C.Sup.Ct. Order dated August 14, 2025.

Subsequently, on November 24, 2025, the Court of Appeals issued a notice to both parties that the Court of Appeals would be hearing Appellants' appeal on the merits and set forth the briefing schedule. *See* Walthour v Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., SC Ct. App. Notice dated November 24, 2025.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act (APA) establishes the standard of review for Appellate Panel decisions. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the APA, the court may reverse or modify the decision of the Appellate Panel when the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because “the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.” Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689–90 (2010); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d)–(e) (Supp. 2016). “The Appellate Panel is the ultimate fact finder in workers' compensation cases, and if its findings are supported by substantial evidence, it is not within our province to reverse those findings.” Mungo v. Rental Unif. Serv. of Florence, Inc., 383 S.C. 270, 279, 678 S.E.2d 825, 829–30 (Ct. App. 2009). “Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action.” Taylor v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 368 S.C. 33, 36, 627 S.E.2d 751, 752 (Ct. App. 2006) (quoting S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles v. Nelson, 364 S.C. 514, 519, 613 S.E.2d 544, 547 (2005)).

“The Respondent has the burden of proving facts that will bring the injury within the workers' compensation law, and such award must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation.” Crisp v. SouthCo. Inc., 401 S.C. 627, 641, 738 S.E.2d 835, 842 (2013) (quoting Clade v. Champion Labs., 330 S.C. 8, 11, 496 S.E.2d 856, 857 (1998)). “[A]n employer who has responded to a workers' compensation claim may assert a general denial of liability whether or not the response expressly contests compensability.” Hargrove v. Carolina Orthopaedic Surgery Assocs., PA, 389 S.C. 119, 124, 697 S.E.2d 641, 643 (Ct. App. 2010). “Injury” for purposes of

workers' compensation means "only injury by accident arising out of and in the course of employment." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(A) (2015); *see also* Turner v. SAIIA Constr., 419 S.C. 98, 105, 796 S.E.2d 150, 154 (Ct. App. 2016) ("For an accidental injury to be compensable, it must "aris[e] out of and in the course of employment." (quoting § 42-1-160(A))).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Employer is a staffing agency, and Respondent was staffed at Husqvarna when she suffered an injury at work. (R. p. 124, lines 18-23, pp. 1124-1128). On July 11, 2019, while lifting a pallet, Respondent injured her lower back and left shoulder. (R. pp. 759-761). Appellants provided Respondent with treatment at Doctors Care. (R. pp. 540-577). Respondent was seen twice at Doctors Care and diagnosed with a lumbar strain. (R. pp. 554, 577). On July 16, 2019, Respondent was released from care and returned to full duty. (R. pp. 564, 577). Respondent returned to work but was terminated for cause shortly thereafter. (R. p. 1098).

On August 11, 2019, after being terminated and thirty days after her work injury, Respondent was treated at the ER at Prisma Health Richland. (R. pp. 878-897). This medical record from the ER does not contain any reference whatsoever to an injury at work. (Id.). According to the medical report, Respondent was complaining of right shoulder pain (not left shoulder pain) that began two days prior. (R. p. 887). Respondent denied recent trauma to her neck, back or shoulder, but she did endorse a fall while getting dressed. (Id.).

On August 22, 2019, Respondent was seen by Dr. Nicholas Depace as part of a referral from South Carolina VR Disability Determination Services in connection with her application for Social Security disability benefits. (R. pp. 1162-1168). The report is detailed, yet it does not contain any reference to a work injury. (Id.). The purpose of the assessment is identified as Respondents “allegations as they relate to ‘hand/wrist/arm problems, hip problem, anxiety disorder, sleep apnea, and carpal tunnel.’”. (R. p. 1165). According to the report, Respondent also omitted Appellants from her work history. (Id.). Dr. Depace noted, “claimant reports that she last worked in a poultry processing plant for three months, ending in December 2018.” (Id.).

On September 12, 2019, Respondent treated with her primary care provider, Hopkins Family Practice, without mention of a work injury. (R. pp. 996-998). In this September 12, 2019, medical report from Hopkins Family Practice, Respondent stated she had pain in her right shoulder and back and thought she may have pulled a muscle about a month ago, the timing of which correlates with the separate and distinct injury she treated for at the ER on August 11, 2019. (R. p. 996). Additionally, it is noted that Respondent has been using her right side as her dominant side since she had surgery for her broken scaphoid in her left arm. (R. p. 998).

Respondent was then referred to Dr. Fulton at Prisma Health Orthopaedics without mention of a work injury. (R. pp. 775-777). On September 24, 2019, Respondent was seen at Dr. Fulton's office for right wrist pain and preexisting left wrist pain. (Id.) Respondent was then referred for an EMG/NCS of her right wrist. (R. p. 776). On October 8, 2019, based on the EMG/NCS, Respondent was sent for a cervical MRI and referred to Dr. DeHoll (also with Prisma Health Orthopaedics). (R. pp. 793-794).

On October 14, 2019, Respondent was seen by Dr. DeHoll, and again there is no reference to a work injury anywhere to be found in the medical report. (R. pp. 803-805). Based on Dr. DeHoll's review of Respondent's MRI, Dr. DeHoll referred Respondent for a CT scan of her cervical spine and noted that Respondent would likely require cervical fusion surgery. (R. p. 805). On October 21, 2019, Respondent returns to see Dr. DeHoll, and again there is no mention of a work injury, or that this issue is in any way related to a workers' compensation claim. (R. pp. 816-818). Based on the results of the cervical spine CT scan, Dr. DeHoll recommended moving forward with a 3-level fusion surgery. (Id.) Respondent underwent cervical fusion surgery on November 12, 2019. (R. pp. 833-836).

Respondent's last appointment with Dr. DeHoll was on January 16, 2020, and again there is no mention of a work injury or any reference to workers' compensation. (R. pp. 860-862). At this visit, Dr. DeHoll recommended physical therapy, and scheduled Respondent for a follow up appointment on March 12, 2020. (R. p. 862). However, there are no records indicating Respondent ever participated in physical therapy, and there are no records indicating Claimant ever returned to see Dr. DeHoll after her January 16, 2020, appointment (Claimant did return to Dr. DeHoll years later).

Appellants were entirely unaware of the treatment Respondent received after being returned to work full duty on July 16, 2019.

Despite ending her treatment with Dr. DeHoll on January 16, 2020, Respondent did not file a Form 50 notice of claim until August 18, 2020, which is more than a year after her July 11, 2019, medical only, low back and left shoulder work injury. (R. pp. 38-39). Respondent's August 18, 2020, Form 50 notice of claim was the very first time Appellants received notice of any kind that Respondent was alleging that she suffered a cervical spine injury and a right shoulder injury; and, these new, separate and distinct injuries were related to her July 11, 2019, work injury. Additionally, Respondent's August 18, 2020, Form 50 notice of claim was not filed until after she underwent cervical fusion surgery and ended her treatment with Dr. DeHoll. (Id.).

The claim was closed by the commission on May 14, 2021, but on June 4, 2021, Respondent filed a Form 50 hearing request to reopen the claim. (R. pp. 41-44). The hearing was set for October 20, 2021. (R. p. 1238). Respondent's deposition was scheduled for September 2, 2021, but Respondent cancelled prior to the deposition. (R. p. 1250). Respondent's deposition was then scheduled for October 12, 2021, but Respondent again cancelled. (R. p. 1243). With the hearing being 8 days away, and Appellants having been unable to conduct Respondent's deposition

through no fault of their own, Respondent agreed to a consent order to remove the claim from the docket. (R. p. 5-6).

Respondent filed a new hearing request on October 13, 2021, and a hearing was set for February 1, 2022. (R. pp. 50-52, 1239). Respondent's deposition was scheduled for January 20, 2022, but Respondent cancelled. (R. p. 1254). Respondent's deposition was then rescheduled for January 25, 2022, but Respondent again cancelled. (R. pp. 1256-1263). Additionally, during this time period, Appellants attempted to depose Dr. DeHoll. Dr. DeHoll's deposition was scheduled for November 4, 2021, but Dr. DeHoll cancelled. Dr. DeHoll's deposition was rescheduled for January 20, 2022, but Respondent's attorney cancelled. (R. p. 1254).

On January 31, 2022, prior to the February 1, 2022, hearing, Respondent withdrew her Form 50 hearing request. (R. p. 1265). Following the withdrawal of her Form 50 on January 31, 2022, Respondent did not take any actions to prosecute her claim for another 19 months (579 days or 1 year and 7 months), until she filed a new Form 50 Hearing Request on September 1, 2023.² (R. pp. 58-61).

Following Respondent's significant delay, she was then unable to sit for her deposition until November 16, 2023, which was only thirteen (13) days prior to the hearing scheduled for November 29, 2023, and during those thirteen days was the Thanksgiving holiday. In addition to new information obtained in Respondent's deposition, there were additional depositions and additional discovery that Appellants were unable to conduct prior the hearing. Therefore, Appellants filed a motion for continuance to conduct additional discovery. (R. pp. 459-464). However, Appellants' motion for continuance was denied by the single commissioner. (R. pp. 1269).

² On September 16, 2022, the claim was closed by the commission.

The hearing was conducted by Commissioner Wilkerson on November 29, 2023, in Columbia, South Carolina. (R. pp. 1240, 203-371). In addition to denying Appellants' motion for continuance, Commissioner Wilkerson took the two separate dates of injury and the separate body parts and collapsed them into one single date of injury and then found the claim compensable. (R. pp. 8-21). The Appellate Panel then affirmed the single commissioner's ruling "with amendments". (R. pp. 22-36). However, after numerous and exhaustive reviews of the Appellate Panel order, the "amendments" are only a restatement and repackaging of the single commissioner's order and do not contain any substantive changes in any way. (Id.).

ARGUMENTS

1. THE COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY COLLAPSING TWO DISTINCT INJURY EVENTS INTO A SINGLE COMPENSABLE INJURY DESPITE THE OBJECTIVE FACTUAL EVIDENCE, ABSENCE OF NOTICE, AND CONTRADICTORY CONTEMPORANEOUS MEDICAL RECORDS.

A. Initial report and authorized Doctors Care treatment (lumbar strain; no cervical or right-shoulder complaints).

Respondent reported this injury on July 12 and stated that she was trying to lift a pallet and felt pain "on her L shoulder and lower back. (R. p. 761).

Respondent was initially treated at Doctors Care on July 14, 2019, and the subjective information contained in the report indicates Respondent injured her lower back "throwing a 150lbs pallet." (R. p. 544). At this July 14, 2019, evaluation, Ms. Comer, LPN, noted Respondent denied "saddle anesthesia" and did not have any radiation of pain or parathesis. (Id.). In her deposition testimony, Ms. Comer, LPN, testified that Respondent stated she injured her lower back, and that "she had no red flags, she had no radiation of pain, no numbness or tingling." (R. pp. 420-422, p. 420, lines 12-17). Ms. Comer, LPN, diagnosed Respondent with low back pain. (R. p. 545).

On July 16, 2019, Respondent was treated by Dr. Kim at Doctors Care. (R. pp. 564-567). Dr. Kim also diagnosed Respondent with a lumbar strain. (R. p. 565). Dr. Kim noted that Respondent told him she obtained a cortisone shot from her doctor in her back, was now feeling better and wanted to return to work. (R. p. 564). Dr. Kim noted that Respondent could return to full-duty work, and that she would not require a follow-up appointment. (R. p. 565).

In his deposition, Dr. Kim testified that Respondent had some vague tenderness over her lumbar spine, but that a straight leg raise of both legs did not produce any results, and that shoulder abduction on both sides did not produce any lower back pain. (R. p. 80, lines 22-25, p. 81). Dr. Kim testified that he diagnosed Respondent with a lumbar strain, and released her to MMI, without any work restrictions and without any future medical requirements. (R. p. 12, lines 1-10).

There is no evidence in the Doctors Care medical records, or in the deposition testimony from Dr. Kim, or Ms. Comer, LPN, that would indicate Respondent either subjectively or objectively suffered an injury to her cervical spine or right shoulder as a result of her work injury.

B. Termination after Respondent Returned to Work.

Respondent returned to work following her July 16, 2019, appointment at Doctors Care. However, the Employer noted in a computer log that Respondent did not show up to work and did not respond to the Employer's phone calls or text messages. (R. p. 1097). Due to the fact that Respondent stopped showing up to work and could not be contacted, the Employer terminated her employment. (R. p. 1098).

C. Respondent's Social Security Disability Application.

On August 22, 2019, Claimant filed an application for Social Security disability benefits, and in connection with that application a "mental status examination" was conducted by Dr. Depace. (R. pp. 1162-1168). During this evaluation, Claimant noted that her last employment was with a poultry processing plant for three months and ended in December 2018, because Claimant

stated that she was no longer physically able to perform the job. (R. p. 1165). Notably, in her deposition, Claimant testified that she left the job at the poultry plant because she got the job with Appellants, which is a different explanation than what she provided to Dr. Depace. (R. p. 127, lines 6-12). Based on Dr. Depace's report, Claimant also chose not to divulge her employment with Appellants at all. (R. p. 1165). Claimant's work injury is likewise not mentioned in Dr. Depace's report. (R. p. 1162-1168). According to Dr. Depace's report, Respondent has had three left wrist surgeries (2006, 2008, 2009), and she is in constant pain as a result.³ (R. p. 1165). Importantly, Claimant states that she has been overcompensating with her right arm due to the pain in her left wrist. (Id.).

D. Prisma Health Richland ER: right-shoulder symptoms, no evidence of a work injury, and a denial of recent trauma.

On August 11, 2019, Respondent was treated at the Prisma Health Richland ER. (R. pp. 878-897). There is no mention in the medical records regarding a work injury, or that Respondent's pain was related to a work injury. (Id.). Respondent denied "recent trauma to her neck or back or shoulder" but she did endorse a recent fall. (R. p. 887).

At this ER visit, it is noted that Respondent's pain is to her right shoulder, not her left shoulder. (Id.). Not only is there no mention of low back pain or left shoulder pain, but this is also the first time Respondent identified radiating pain, however, Respondent advised that the radiating pain and tingling was "only in the right arm". (Id.).

The medical record notes that Respondent's "pain began 2 days ago", which would have been August 9, 2019, not July 11, 2019. (Id.). There is no mention that Respondent's pain has been ongoing since her July 11, 2019, work injury. This information correlates with the Doctors Care

³ Claimant has not alleged that her left wrist is part of this workers' compensation claim.

records and the deposition testimony of Dr. Kim and Ms. Comer, LPN, which is that on July 16, 2019, Claimant was feeling better and was released to work without restriction.

E. Respondent's subsequent medical records do not contain any information regarding a work injury, and rather than low back pain, these records reflect right-sided shoulder and cervical pain.

On September 12, 2019, Respondent was treated by Dr. Ash-Malachi. The medical record from this visit states Respondent reported she pulled a muscle about a month ago, and now her right shoulder and back through her right arm/hand hurts. (R. p. 685). Respondent endorsed numbness and tingling in her right fingers and thumb. (Id.). Respondent's subjective statements correlate with her August 11, 2019, ER visit and not with her July 11, 2019, work injury.

Additionally, Dr. Ash-Malachi noted in the medical report from September 12, 2019, that Respondent has been using her right side as her dominant side since she had surgery for a broken scaphoid (the scaphoid is a bone in your wrist) in her left arm. (R. p. 687). Dr. Ash-Malachi then refers Respondent to Dr. Fulton, and on October 8, 2019, Dr. Clavet performs an EMG/NCS on Respondent's bilateral upper extremities. (R. pp. 785-794).

On October 8, 2019, Respondent is seen by Dr. Clavet for an EMG/NCS of her bilateral upper extremities. (Id.). Dr. Clavet notes that Respondent is complaining of neck and bilateral arm pain. (R. p. 793). However, there is no mention in the medical record of any work-related injury. (R. pp. 785-794). Based on the EMG/NCS, Dr. Clavet ordered a cervical MRI. (R. p. 794).

F. The evidence only supports two separate and distinct injuries.

In asserting her proof of compensability, Respondent ignores the fact that the medical evidence clearly shows two different dates on which Respondent suffered different injuries. Respondent suffered an injury on July 11, 2019, to her left shoulder and lower back, for which she received treatment and was released to work full duty. Respondent was then terminated by

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