THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Mar 31 2026
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Melody James, Commissioner
Aisha Taylor, Commissioner
Cynthia Dooley, Commissioner
Commissioners for the Appellate Panel

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2024-001822
W.C.C. FILE NO.: 1925084

Christina Walthour, ClaimantRESPONDENT,

v.

Remedy Intelligent Staffing, Inc., Employer, and XL Insurance America, Inc., Carrier
.....APPELLANTS.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

s/ Robert Limehouse, III
Robert C. "Trey" Limehouse, III, Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 104687
Gary Christmas, Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 13467
Christmas Law Firm, LLC
250 Mathis Ferry Road, Suite 102

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION'S FINDING OF A COMPENSABLE CERVICAL INJURY IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND MUST BE AFFIRMED WHERE APPELLANTS PRESENTED NO CONTRARY MEDICAL CAUSATION OPINION

Appellants' first argument, styled as "collapsing two distinct injury events," fundamentally misrepresents both the role of the Commission and the record. This case does not involve the Commission neglecting objective evidence or committing a legal error. Instead, the Commission fulfilled its fundamental duty: evaluating competing evidence, assessing credibility, and making factual findings based on substantial medical testimony. These findings must be upheld.

A. Appellants' "Two Distinct Injuries" Theory Is a Factual Argument Already Rejected by Two Levels of the Commission

Appellants present their initial issue as alleging that the Commission committed an error of law by "collapsing two distinct injury events into a single compensable injury." (Appellants' Brief at 1, 9-12). However, this framing is misleading. The pertinent question before this Court is not whether Appellants can construct an alternative narrative from selected parts of the record, a capability they unquestionably possess. Instead, the only inquiry is whether there is substantial evidence supporting the Commission's findings.

Both the Single Commissioner and the Appellate Panel examined all pertinent evidence as recited by Appellants: the initial diagnoses from Doctors Care, the one-month interval preceding

the emergency room visit, the absence of the phrase "work-related" in certain medical documentation, and Respondent's right-sided symptoms documented in subsequent records. Despite these considerations, both tiers of the Commission determined that Respondent sustained a compensable cervical injury resulting from the work-related accident on July 11, 2019.

The Single Commissioner specifically found "[t]hat on or about July 11, 2019, Claimant sustained compensable injuries by accident to her neck at C3-4, C4-5, C5-6, and C6-7, with a myelopathic spinal cord injury and radicular symptoms that affect her bilateral shoulders, bilateral upper extremities, bilateral hands, and bilateral fingers..." (R. p. 18).

This finding was based on "the greater weight of the evidence, including the testimony of the witnesses, medical reports, and other documentary evidence." (*Id.*). The Appellate Panel independently reviewed the record and reached the same conclusion. (R. p. 30).

Appellants request that this Court overturn the previous findings by reevaluating the evidence and endorsing their favored interpretation. Such a practice is explicitly contrary to the role of appellate courts in administrative appeals.

B. Substantial Medical Evidence Supports the Commission's Causation Findings

The Commission's compensability finding rests on a solid foundation of medical causation evidence:

1. Paul DeHoll, MD, Board-Certified Orthopedic Surgeon

Dr. DeHoll treated Respondent and performed her 3-level ACDF surgery. Subsequently, he completed a comprehensive questionnaire opining to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that: (a) Respondent's cervical spine injuries were aggravated by her work-related accident on July 11, 2019; (b) she will require future medical treatment including a C3-4 fusion, as a result of that

accident; and (c) she has permanent sedentary work restrictions as a result. (R. pp. 30-31, 194-195, 471-473).

During his deposition, Dr. DeHoll testified that he stands by all opinions expressed in the questionnaire and that these opinions were stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. (R. p. 195).

2. Shailesh Patel, MD, Board-Certified Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Specialist

Dr. Patel conducted an IME on October 12, 2021, and provided comprehensive testimony linking Respondent's cervical pathology to her work-related accident. His principal opinions include: (a) disc extrusions causing myelomalacia are typically traumatic in origin, and "the closest trauma here is the July 11th work injury" (R. pp. 381-387); (b) Respondent sustained a work-related injury to her cervical spine causing myelopathic spinal cord injury affecting both upper extremities (R. p. 408); (c) the 3-level cervical fusion was appropriate and medically necessary (R. pp. 405-406); (d) the June 2020 motor vehicle accident did not aggravate her cervical condition (R. p. 408); (e) Respondent should remain off work due to her injuries (R. p. 410).

All of Dr. Patel's opinions were stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. (R. p. 404).

3. Chun Kim, MD, Authorized Treating Physician

Even Dr. Kim, who examined Respondent solely in the immediate aftermath of the accident, subsequently opined that Respondent sustained an injury at work and that her symptoms were caused or aggravated by the accident on July 11, 2019. (R. p. 30, 539).

4. Diagnostic Testing

The medical record includes objective diagnostic findings supporting the causation opinions: (a) EMG/NCS showing C6-7 radiculopathy (R. pp. 578-582); (b) cervical MRI revealing

severe multi-level stenosis with myelomalacia (R. pp. 493-495); and (c) documented myelopathic symptoms including positive Hoffman's reflex, positive Spurling's sign, and hyperactive reflexes. (R. pp. 385-386).

This is not speculative evidence. These are board-certified physicians rendering opinions within their areas of expertise, supported by objective diagnostic testing, and stated to the requisite degree of medical certainty.

C. Appellants' Attack on Medical Opinion Credibility Improperly Asks This Court to Reweigh Evidence

Appellants dedicate considerable argument to challenging the reliability of the medical causation opinions, asserting that: (a) Dr. DeHoll admitted he did not recall how Respondent's injury occurred while completing his questionnaire; (b) Dr. Patel based his conclusions on Respondent's history provided "more than two years" after the accident; (c) certain medical histories exhibit alleged inconsistencies; and (d) "A medical opinion is only as good as the facts available to the physician." (Appellants' Brief at 12-14)

These arguments all relate to weight, rather than admissibility or legal sufficiency. They are precisely the types of cross-examination points and credibility challenges that parties routinely present to factfinders. The Commission considered these arguments and ultimately rejected them.

Concerning Dr. DeHoll's lack of specific recollection, the Commission was justified in considering his written opinion, his deposition testimony corroborating that opinion, and the objective medical records documenting the severity of Respondent's cervical pathology. Medical practitioners routinely provide opinions based on medical records rather than recollections of conversations from years prior. This is especially pertinent in situations where, as in this case, the physician remembered the patient due to her condition being unusual for her age. (R. p. 191).

Regarding Dr. Patel's reliance on Respondent's medical history, the Commission was justified in acknowledging his expert opinion that the objective diagnostic findings, including severe multi-level stenosis with myelomalacia, positive EMG results, and documented myelopathic symptoms, were indicative of traumatic causation. Furthermore, the Commission may have taken into account that Dr. Patel reviewed contemporaneous medical records from Dr. DeHoll, diagnostic test results, and records from Doctors Care.

Most importantly, Appellants' credibility attacks against Respondent's medical experts do not constitute legal error. They merely demonstrate that Appellants contested the case, which is consistent with the adversarial nature of litigation. The Commission accordingly resolved those contestations unfavorably to Appellants. In the absence of an abuse of discretion or lack of substantial evidence, such a determination must remain in effect.

D. The Absence of Any Competing Medical Causation Opinion from Appellants Is Dispositive

Perhaps most indicative is the fact that the Appellants did not provide any medical expert testimony to challenge the causation opinions linking Respondent's cervical condition to her work accident.

Both the Single Commissioner and the Appellate Panel specifically found:

"That Defendants proffered no medical opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty from any doctor with a differing opinion regarding causation in this case and proffered no medical opinion from any doctor that Claimant's injuries came from anywhere other than from her work-related accident that occurred on July 11, 2019."

(R. pp. 18, 30).

This finding is of paramount importance under South Carolina law. When credible medical testimony supports compensability and no opposing medical evidence is provided, the Commission's determination must be upheld. The Commission does not resolve causation issues

through legal semantics or by enumerating the number of days between medical consultations. Instead, it relies on medical evidence to determine causation.

Appellants had ample opportunity to retain their own medical expert to review Respondent's records and to assert that her cervical pathology resulted from pre-existing conditions, the motor vehicle accident, or any other cause besides the work-related accident. They elected not to pursue this course of action.

Presently, on appeal, they request this Court to dismiss the causation opinions of multiple board-certified physicians, which are only based on an argumentative analysis of medical records. Such a task does not fall within the Court's responsibilities. In cases where substantial medical evidence substantiates causation and no opposing medical evidence is available, the Commission's determination must remain upheld.

E. Workers' Compensation Law Does Not Require Claimants to Self-Diagnose Complex Neurological Conditions

Appellants emphasize the fact that initial treatment records primarily addressed low back symptoms, whereas subsequent records indicate complaints on the right side. (Appellants' Brief at 10-12). However, this argument misinterprets the causal considerations within workers' compensation causation.

First, the contemporaneous accident report documented both low back pain and shoulder blade pain. The Commission determined that this report provided timely notice. (R. pp. 30-31, 761).

Second, Dr. Patel explicitly clarified the rationale behind early records emphasizing back and shoulder blade pain rather than "cervical" or "neck" complaints: cervical pathology often causes pain that radiates to the shoulder blade area, and providers without specialization in this field may not recognize referred pain patterns that spine specialists would promptly identify. (R.

pp. 377-378). This expert testimony, which explains the progression of symptoms, was duly acknowledged by the Commission.

Third, the medical testimony established that the myelopathic spinal cord injury, which Respondent demonstrably suffered, can manifest with complex, bilateral symptoms that develop over time. (R. pp. 385-386, 379-380). Severe multi-level stenosis with cord compression does not invariably present with the textbook symptom of "neck pain" on the initial day.

Fourth, and most fundamentally, workers' compensation claimants are not required to correctly diagnose their own injuries or utilize precise anatomical terminology when reporting accidents. They are obligated to report the accident and associated symptoms. Respondent did precisely that (within 11 hours of her injury).

F. Conclusion on Issue I

The Commission's determination of compensability is substantiated by: (a) unrebutted medical causation opinions provided by multiple board-certified physicians; (b) objective diagnostic testing demonstrating significant cervical pathology; (c) expert testimony elucidating the progression of symptoms and referred pain patterns; (d) the Commission's credibility assessments and evaluation of the evidence; and (e) the total absence of any contradictory medical causation evidence from Appellants.

Appellants have not identified any errors of law. They have not demonstrated that the Commission's findings lack support from substantial evidence. They have merely provided an alternative interpretation of contested facts, an interpretation that was rejected at two levels of the Commission.

This Court should affirm the Commission's compensability determination.

II. APPELLANTS FAILED TO PROVE THE EQUITABLE DEFENSE OF LACHES, AND THE COMMISSION'S REJECTION OF THAT DEFENSE IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

Appellants' most vigorous argument invokes *Jervey v. Martint Env't, Inc.*, 406 S.C. 210, 750 S.E.2d 90 (2013), and asserts that laches bars this claim as a matter of law. (Appellants' Brief at 21-27). This argument fails for multiple independent reasons: (1) Appellants did not meet the burden of proof regarding the essential elements of laches; (2) the procedural record indicates ongoing litigation activities rather than unexplained abandonment; (3) Appellants failed to prove material prejudice; and (4) *Jervey* is factually distinguishable and substantiates the decision of the Commission in this instance.

A. Laches Requires Proof of Three Elements, All of Which Appellants Failed to Establish

Laches is an equitable defense requiring the party asserting it to prove three elements: "(1) delay, (2) unreasonable delay, and (3) prejudice." *Hallums v. Hallums*, 296 S.C. 195, 199, 371 S.E.2d 525, 528 (1988). Appellants bear the burden of proving all three elements. *Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 432, 673 S.E.2d 448, 456 (2009).